Dianne Rogers

Mothering and Attention Deficit Disorder

The Impact of Professional Power

VDM Verlag Dr. Müller

Impressum/Imprint (nur für Deutschland/ only for Germany)

Bibliografische Information der Deutschen Nationalbibliothek: Die Deutsche Nationalbibliothek verzeichnet diese Publikation in der Deutschen Nationalbibliografie; detaillierte bibliografische Daten sind im Internet über http://dnb.d-nb.de abrufbar.

Alle in diesem Buch genannten Marken und Produktnamen unterliegen warenzeichen-, markenoder patentrechtlichem Schutz bzw. sind Warenzeichen oder eingetragene Warenzeichen der
jeweiligen Inhaber. Die Wiedergabe von Marken, Produktnamen, Gebrauchsnamen,
Handelsnamen, Warenbezeichnungen u.s.w. in diesem Werk berechtigt auch ohne besondere
Kennzeichnung nicht zu der Annahme, dass solche Namen im Sinne der Warenzeichen- und
Markenschutzgesetzgebung als frei zu betrachten wären und daher von jedermann benutzt
werden dürften.

Coverbild: www.purestockx.com

Verlag: VDM Verlag Dr. Müller Aktiengesellschaft & Co. KG Dudweiler Landstr. 125 a, 66123 Saarbrücken, Deutschland

Telefon +49 681 9100-698, Telefax +49 681 9100-988, Email: info@vdm-verlag.de

Zugl.: Townsville, James Cook University, Diss., 2005

Herstellung in Deutschland:

Schaltungsdienst Lange o.H.G., Zehrensdorfer Str. 11, D-12277 Berlin Books on Demand GmbH, Gutenbergring 53, D-22848 Norderstedt Reha GmbH, Dudweiler Landstr. 99, D- 66123 Saarbrücken

ISBN: 978-3-639-07761-2

Imprint (only for USA, GB)

Bibliographic information published by the Deutsche Nationalbibliothek: The Deutsche Nationalbibliothek lists this publication in the Deutsche Nationalbibliografie; detailed bibliographic data are available in the Internet at http://dnb.d-nb.de.

Any brand names and product names mentioned in this book are subject to trademark, brand or patent protection and are trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective holders. The use of brand names, product names, common names, trade names, product descriptions etc. even without

a particular marking in this works is in no way to be construed to mean that such names may be regarded as unrestricted in respect of trademark and brand protection legislation and could thus be used by anyone.

Cover image: www.purestockx.com

Publisher:

VDM Verlag Dr. Müller Aktiengesellschaft & Co. KG Dudweiler Landstr. 125 a, 66123 Saarbrücken, Germany Phone +49 681 9100-698, Fax +49 681 9100-988, Email: info@vdm-verlag.de

Copyright © 2008 VDM Verlag Dr. Müller Aktiengesellschaft & Co. KG and licensors All rights reserved. Saarbrücken 2008

Produced in USA and UK by:

Lightning Source Inc., 1246 Heil Quaker Blvd., La Vergne, TN 37086, USA Lightning Source UK Ltd., Chapter House, Pitfield, Kiln Farm, Milton Keynes, MK11 3LW, GB BookSurge, 7290 B. Investment Drive, North Charleston, SC 29418, USA

ISBN: 978-3-639-07761-2

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research is dedicated to my family.

A special mention must go to Professor Ros Thorpe and Ginni Hall who provided me with support and encouragement. Their professional knowledge and their knowledge of community informed my work, and for that I am very grateful. Ros Thorpe's guidance and thoughtfulness energised me as the final touches, and what seemed to be endless editing took place. Ros once compared research and writing to climbing a mountain — you don't appreciate how far you have travelled until you look down, and that sometimes you need to descend into a valley in order to continue the journey and ultimately reach the summit.

I would also like to thank friends and colleagues for their support: Margaret Crowther, Lister Bainbridge, Philippa Harris, Toni Mehigan, Lyn Tyson and Cindy O'Connell.

Particular mention, for their professional input and insight must go to: Jane Williams, Beth Dumont, Jenny Stirling, Sharlene Sutton, Jeff Williams and Alistair McDonald.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTORY CHAPTER	1
Introduction	1
Background	1
Values and Research	2
My Values in Relation to the Research Topic	3
My Values and Beliefs about ADD	4
Research Aims	5
Theoretical Frameworks	5
Limitations and Considerations	5
Overview of the Chapters	6
CHAPTER ONE - MOTHERHOOD AND MOTHER BLAME	8
Introduction	8
THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE IDEOLOGY OF MOTHERHOOD	8
Child Rearing in the Past	8
The Seventeenth and Eighteenth Century	9
Theoretical Frameworks - Feminism and Foucault	9
Manufacturing Nations, the Family and Motherhood	10
Great Britain	10
United States of America	11
Australia	11
Healthy Nations Need Healthy Children	12
Scientific Motherhood	14
The Rise of the Experts	14
Models of Childcare Change	15
The Expert and Child Rearing Manuals	16
Experts and the Role of Fathers	17
Summary	18
MOTHER BLAME	18
An Overview	19
The Overprotective and Rejecting Mother	19
Bowlby – Maternal Deprivation	20
The Bowlby Legacy	21
The Theoretical Foundations of Mother Blame	22
	ii

Aberrant Children	22
Schizophrenia	23
Autism	23
Attention Deficit Disorder	23
The Role of the Father	24
The Politics of Fatherhood	25
Father Blame Versus Mother Blame	26
Feminist Critique of Attachment Theories	26
The Blaming of Mothers	27
Summary	28
CONCLUSION	28
CHAPTER TWO - GENEALOGY OF ATTENTION DEFICIT DISORDER A	ND THE
FORMATION OF DISCOURSE	29
Introduction	29
American Psychiatric Association's Diagnostic and Statistical Manual	29
(DSM-IV)	29
Portrait of Attention Deficit Disorder	29
Co-morbidity	30
"Who are the Different Kids"?	30
GENEALOGY – EXPLORING THE PAST AND PRESENT	31
1890-1902 - The First Descriptions of Attention Deficit Disorder	31
Locating the Difference	32
1918-1919 Influenza Epidemic – Brain Disease	33
1930-1940s The Era of Brain Damage	33
1950s Minimal Brain Dysfunction (MBD)	33
1960s Hyperactivity Disorder	34
1970s ADD - Sustained Attention and Impulse Control	34
1980s – The Decade of ADHD	34
Summary of the Development of the Discourses	36
THE CURRENT DISCOURSE	37
Psychoanalytic and Behaviourist Framework	37
Biological Condition and Genetics	37
Diet	38
The Struggle for Power and Knowledge	38

LEPERS OF THE TWENTIETH CENTURY	39
Influencing the Discourse and Passing the Baton of Leprosy	39
Schizophrenia	39
Autism	39
ADD and the Status of Leper	40
CONCLUSION	41
CHAPTER THREE – DIFFERENCE, NORMALISATION AND DISCIPLINE	42
Introduction	42
Difference	42
Normalisation, Governmentality and Discipline	44
Nature, Nurture and Locating Difference	44
NATURE THEORIES AND EUGENICS	45
Collusion and the Elimination of Difference	46
Genetic Research in the Twenty First Century	47
Genetic Research and Attention Deficit Disorder	47
The Spectre of Eugenics Still Looms	48
NURTURE BASED THEORIES AND NORMALISATION	48
Normalisation in Queensland	49
Triple P	50
Nurture Theories, Normalisation and ADD	51
Partnerships in Normalising Populations	51
Parental Responsibility in Normalising Behaviour	51
NORMALISATION AND DISCIPLINE	53
CONCLUSION	53
CHAPTER FOUR - THEORY AND PRACTICE-	54
Introduction	54
Perspective from the United Kingdom	54
The United States of America	55
Overview of Australia	56
Legislation and Government Policy	56
Whom Does Discourse Serve?	56
THEORY, PRACTICE FRAMEWORKS AND POWER	57
1. Hereditary & Biology	57

Ineory	37
Practice Framework	57
Diagnosis	57
ADD and Parenting	57
Interventions	58
Power – "power over"?	58
2. Psychoanalytic and Behaviourist Framework	59
Гћеогу	59
Practice Framework	59
Interventions	60
Triple P	60
Power - "power over"?	62
3. Support Groups and the Strengths Perspective	62
Theory	62
Practice Framework	62
Power - "power with"?	63
4. DIET PERSPECTIVE	63
Гћеогу	63
Practice Framework	63
Power – "power to"?	64
STRENGTHS AND OPTIMISM VERSUS DOGMA	64
CONCLUSION	65
HAPTER FIVE – THEORETICAL FRAMEWORKS AND RESEARCH	66
Introduction	66
Overall Aim of the Research	66
Project Objectives	66
Research Questions	66
Feminist Critique of Research	66
Science and Quantitative Research	67
Feminist Research	67
THEORETICAL FRAMEWORKS	67
Power and Resistance	67
Knowledge and the Formation of Discourse	68

Strengths and Limitations	68
Feminist Standpoint Theory	68
QUALITATIVE RESEARCH	69
Semi-Structured Interview and Short Questionnaire	69
Diminishing the Power Relationship	70
The Process	71
Reflexivity	71
Empathy and Rapport	72
Strengths and Possible Pitfalls	73
The Insider	73
Data Analysis	74
Ethical Considerations	74
Scrutiny of the Research.	74
Limitations of the Research	75
CONCLUSION	75
CHAPTER SIX - DIAGNOSIS, DIFFERENCE AND RESISTANCE TO BLAME	76
Introduction	76
BACKGROUND INFORMATION AND PROFILES	76
Location	76
Demographic Information	76
Support Group History	77
Snapshots	78
Feral Cheryl	78
Wild Thing	78
Number 13	78
Leanne	78
Mim	78
Anne	79
Joyce	79
Mary Serenity (A Student of Life)	79
Roseanne	79
Caroline	79
THE STORIES OF WOMEN	79
The Journey of Diagnosis	79

	What Difference Does Diagnosis Make?	82
	EXPLORING DIFFERENCE	83
	Family Members	83
	Different Children	84
	Difference, Pathology and Power	86
	BLAME, SHAME AND PERCEPTIONS OF SELF	87
	Health Professionals	87
	Schools	88
	Spouse	89
	What Happens When You Are Seen To Fail?	90
	Medication, Whose Shame is it?	91
	What Could be the Alternatives?	91
	Good Interactions with Professionals	92
	Self Blame	94
	Rejecting the Blame	94
	Perceptions of Themselves	95
	CONCLUSION	96
•	CHAPTER SEVEN - FAMILY LIFE AND THE IMPACT OF ADD ON THE MOTHER	97
(CHAPTER SEVEN - FAMILY LIFE AND THE IMPACT OF ADD ON THE MOTHER Introduction	97 97
•		_
(Introduction	97
(Introduction Happy Families or Surviving the Best You Can?	97 97
(Introduction Happy Families or Surviving the Best You Can? Motherhood and the Triple Burden	97 97 98
•	Introduction Happy Families or Surviving the Best You Can? Motherhood and the Triple Burden DYSFUNCTIONAL FAMILIES OR SURVIVORS?	97 97 98 100
•	Introduction Happy Families or Surviving the Best You Can? Motherhood and the Triple Burden DYSFUNCTIONAL FAMILIES OR SURVIVORS? Number 13's Family	97 97 98 100 101
	Introduction Happy Families or Surviving the Best You Can? Motherhood and the Triple Burden DYSFUNCTIONAL FAMILIES OR SURVIVORS? Number 13's Family Leanne's Family	97 97 98 100 101
•	Introduction Happy Families or Surviving the Best You Can? Motherhood and the Triple Burden DYSFUNCTIONAL FAMILIES OR SURVIVORS? Number 13's Family Leanne's Family Anne's Family	97 97 98 100 101 101
•	Introduction Happy Families or Surviving the Best You Can? Motherhood and the Triple Burden DYSFUNCTIONAL FAMILIES OR SURVIVORS? Number 13's Family Leanne's Family Anne's Family The Life of a Middle Sibling	97 97 98 100 101 101 102 103
	Introduction Happy Families or Surviving the Best You Can? Motherhood and the Triple Burden DYSFUNCTIONAL FAMILIES OR SURVIVORS? Number 13's Family Leanne's Family Anne's Family The Life of a Middle Sibling IMPACT ON THE MOTHER	97 97 98 100 101 101 102 103
	Introduction Happy Families or Surviving the Best You Can? Motherhood and the Triple Burden DYSFUNCTIONAL FAMILIES OR SURVIVORS? Number 13's Family Leanne's Family Anne's Family The Life of a Middle Sibling IMPACT ON THE MOTHER Stress, Emotional and Social Isolation	97 98 100 101 101 102 103 103
	Introduction Happy Families or Surviving the Best You Can? Motherhood and the Triple Burden DYSFUNCTIONAL FAMILIES OR SURVIVORS? Number 13's Family Leanne's Family Anne's Family The Life of a Middle Sibling IMPACT ON THE MOTHER Stress, Emotional and Social Isolation Health	97 98 100 101 101 102 103 103 105
	Introduction Happy Families or Surviving the Best You Can? Motherhood and the Triple Burden DYSFUNCTIONAL FAMILIES OR SURVIVORS? Number 13's Family Leanne's Family Anne's Family The Life of a Middle Sibling IMPACT ON THE MOTHER Stress, Emotional and Social Isolation Health Aggression and Abuse	97 97 98 100 101 101 102 103 103 105 105
•	Introduction Happy Families or Surviving the Best You Can? Motherhood and the Triple Burden DYSFUNCTIONAL FAMILIES OR SURVIVORS? Number 13's Family Leanne's Family Anne's Family The Life of a Middle Sibling IMPACT ON THE MOTHER Stress, Emotional and Social Isolation Health Aggression and Abuse Who Supported These Women?	97 98 100 101 101 102 103 103 105 105

CHAPTER EIGHT – POWER AND KNOWLEDGE	110
Introduction	110
SUSAN AND ADD	110
Profile	110
This Thing Called ADD	110
Early Childhood Memories	110
Life at School in London	111
Life After School	111
Life in Australia	112
Career and ADD	112
Living with ADD, What Does it Mean?	113
What Turned it Around for Susan?	113
Family and Relationships	113
The Way Forward	114
ANNE'S JOURNEY	115
Profile	115
Early Intervention	115
Family Sessions	116
I Need to Take a Valium Before I See Your Children	117
We Can't Help Martyrs	117
A Critic of Professional Power	118
CONCLUSION	120
CHAPTER NINE - SUPPORT GROUPS AND POLITICAL ACTION	121
Introduction	121
ADVERSITY – CHANGE OF WORLD VIEW	121
Support from Other women	122
Resistance and Personal Advocacy	123
Political Advocacy	123
Seeking to Influence Policy	124
Political Action and the Machinery of Government	126
"Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: Impact and Implications for Queensland".	128
PARTNERSHIPS AND CONSTRUCTING DISCOURSE	130
Fill the Gaps	130
Information Folder	131

Challenging Discourse	132
REALITY, RESISTANCE AND THE DEVELOPMENT OF LEARNER'S PERMITS	133
Research and Action	133
The Program	135
Data Collection	135
Current Situation	136
Influencing the Discourse and Rejecting the Status of Leper	136
CONCLUSION	137
CHAPTER TEN - DISCUSSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	138
Introduction	138
DIAGNOSIS	138
DIFFERENCE	139
Changes Needed in Education	139
The Value of Difference	140
Difference, a Simple Analogy	141
A CULTURE OF BLAME	141
Mother Blame	141
Lepers	142
Rejecting the Status of Leper	143
Medication an Option?	143
Re-emergence of Psychoanalytic Theories	144
Recent Developments in Government Policy	145
THE ABUSE OF MOTHERS	145
Violence	146
SYSTEMIC NORMALISATION AND DISCIPLINE	147
SUPPORT FOR FAMILIES AND INDIVIDUALS	148
Professional Sensitivity and Awareness	148
Involving Fathers	149
Resistance to Active Father Involvement and Possible Strategies	149
RESISTANCE AND POLITICAL ADVOCACY	150
Strengths Based Approaches	150
Feminist Action	150
Support Groups	151
HOW ARE THEY NOW?	151

Number 13	151
Anne	151
Caroline	152
Leanne	152
Mim	152
Joyce	152
Feral Cheryl	153
Roseanne	153
Wild Thing	153
Mary Serenity (A Student of Life)	153
RECOMMENDATIONS	154
One	154
Two	154
Three	154
Four	154
Five	154
Six	154
Seven	155
Eight	155
FURTHER RESEARCH	155
CONCLUSION	156
APPENDICES	157
Appendix 1 – Summary Table	157
Appendix 2 – Letter of Introduction	158
Appendix 3 – Informed Consent Form	159
Appendix 4 - Questionnaire	160
Appendix 5 - Semi-Structured Interview - Mothers	162
Appendix 6 - Semi-Structured Interview - Susan	164
Appendix 7 – Graphical Representation	165
Appendix 8 – Families	166
Appendix 9 – Learner's Permits for Parents	167
REFERENCES	168

INTRODUCTORY CHAPTER

Introduction

This research seeks to explore the power relationships which surround and are embedded in the experiences of women, primarily mothers, who have children with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and Attention Deficit Disorder (ADD). For the purpose of this study the term ADD will be used, even though technically ADHD, in the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorder*, 4th edition (DSMIV) (American Psychiatric Association, 1994) covers three categories:

- ❖ Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, combined type
- ❖ Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, predominantly inattentive type
- ❖ Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, predominantly hyperactive-impulsive type.

ADD has been chosen since, as will be demonstrated in Chapter Two, the term ADHD has focused both research and community attention on anti-social behaviour in boys, at the expense of conceptualising ADD as a difference in learning which can affect both males and females (Tannock, 2004). However the term ADHD will be used when referring specifically to ADHD or ADHD characteristics.

Background

I discovered ADD when a family member was diagnosed at the close of 1993. The diagnosis helped me make sense of the last few years and in time it helped me make sense of my life as a mother and the life of my family. In 1994, I joined the North Queensland Attention Deficit Disorder Support Group in Townsville. I met many women, most of them mothers and they shared their experiences with me. Some of their experiences were similar to my own. However each story had its own dimension and there were differences.

One story had a profound impact on me. In the car park, as women were leaving to go home from a support group meeting, one young mother in her early twenties told me about her experiences and her frustration. She had four young children, her eldest was about five and had ADD. She also suspected the toddler, a little girl, had ADD and she described a very defiant child. She then told me about her own childhood. She was a very disruptive teenager, had little education and left home or was asked to leave home at an early age. She said that one day she had taken one of her son's Ritalin tablets and that it was the first time that she found peace. She actually knew what it was like to sit down and gather her thoughts. The young woman, in describing basic ADD characteristics, caused me to wonder if she had ADD as an adult. Despite my education, I had difficulty in locating non-judgemental professionals in relation to ADD and negotiating a system which offers little or no support to mothers. In light of my own experiences I thought, "How does this woman cope? Who would help her"? This caused me to reflect on what it might be like to have ADD as an adult woman and to question what impact, if any, ADD might have on mothering.

Regardless of the diversity of the women in the support group, most felt blamed for their children's difficulties. Many mothers had sought assistance when their children were young but only discovered that they were dealing with ADD when their child was in late adolescence. These adolescents posed enormous problems for their mothers. Other mothers had children who were younger and their situations, although difficult, were not fraught with as much frustration, abuse, crisis and poor health. Nevertheless, the stories had a common theme; mother blame, lack of services, and disbelief from their own families and/or the general public. Often, they found themselves alone, except for the support of women friends within the group.

In my search to find answers during the next few years, I read publications on Attention Deficit Disorder and learnt a considerable amount about the disorder. However the scientific material, usually written for professionals, medical practitioners or psychologists, was often very negative

and the prognosis for ADD children was not good. The publications rarely spoke about the achievements of children and adults with ADD; instead I read that they had a greater chance of failing school, becoming an alcoholic, committing a crime or developing a mental illness. In more recent years a number of books have been written which seek to moderate this profile, but in the early days such texts were few and far between. While I did not doubt the statistics, I suspected that a true representation was not being allowed to develop. Maybe the picture was skewed?

The disparity between the lives of the women and what was written in the lay and academic literature was very disturbing, in particular, the mother blame that pervaded many texts. Families and mothers were described as dysfunctional, rather than stressed and coping as best they could. Children with ADD were described as coming from broken homes, the implication being, "What else could you expect"? Mothers were seen as depressed and contributing to, or causing their children's problems. I did not read of the struggles that women encountered, the successes that they had achieved. Mothers' stories were absent from the discourse on ADD. The portrait of ADD was clinical and cold; women's experiences were rendered invisible.

The invisibility of women's experiences was a primary consideration as in the late 1990s there was little information available and from my own experience, many women felt that they were in a siege situation unable to express themselves clearly to anyone outside of the support group. As my work was taking shape, I became aware of Carpenter's (1999) unpublished research and Malacrida's (2003) work, which examine the experiences of mothers. Late in 2004, I also located a number of other texts which sought to explore the reality of families, notably the work of Kendall (1999, 2003), Muslow, O'Neal and McBride Murry (2001) and Harborne, Wolpert and Clare (2004). I have used these works in the literature review and refer to them where appropriate in the data analysis.

Values and Research

Throughout history we see events that shape people's lives and influence their academic pursuits. A case in point is Foucault who grew up in the shadow of the Second World War. He tells of his fear as the Nazis assassinated people in his town and as refugees arrived from other parts of Europe. Foucault asserts that these experiences had a profound impact on his life and his generation:

I have very early memories of an absolutely threatening world, which could crush us...the impression of spending one's entire childhood in the night, waiting for dawn. That prospect of another world marked the people of my generation, and we have carried with us, perhaps to excess, a dream of Apocalypse (Cited in Miller, 1993, p.39).

A number of experiences influenced Foucault's world view and academic aspirations. As a young man he tried to commit suicide a number of times. He was not well liked as his classmates found him to be difficult and abusive. Some believed that his mental health was not robust; "all his life he verged on madness" (Eribon, 1992, p.26). Foucault held a passionate interest in the fields of psychology, psychiatry and psychoanalysis. He read Freud, listened to presentations on psychiatry and had access to Rene Beauchamp, a family friend and a man who was at the forefront of psychoanalysis in France. Therefore it is no surprise that Foucault's experience with madness informed his work:

Whenever I have tried to carry out a piece of theoretical work, it has been on the basis of my own experience, always in relation to processes I saw taking place around me...that I undertook a particular piece of work, a few fragments of autobiography (Cited in Eribon, 1992, pp.28-29).

Foucault was not alone in using personal experiences as a catalyst for the development of his work. Bruno Bettelheim's experience of living in Austria from 1938-1944 had a profound affect on his world view and may have influenced his theories on autism:

some victims of the concentration camps had lost their humanity in response to extreme situations. Autistic children withdraw from the world before their humanity ever really develops (Bettelheim, 1967, p.7).

Bettelheim went on to employ psychoanalytic theories to explain autism. After the Second World War others were motivated to employ psychoanalytic frameworks. It has been suggested that the unhappy childhoods of Mary Ainsworth and John Bowlby influenced their careers in developing psychoanalytic theory in relation to child rearing (Eyer, 1996; Karen, 1998). Attachment theorists have been criticised for allowing "their own values to skew their work" (Karen, 1998, p.249). Therefore it can be argued that our experience and values have an effect on what we study, how we study (Kanpol, 1998) and how theories or disciplines develop.

Although there are many different "categories" (Kensinger, 1997) of feminist theory, nonetheless, what most feminist researchers have in common is that they acknowledge the importance of personal experience. Furthermore, feminist researchers understand that often women will be motivated to undertake research in an area which has had a profound impact of their life (Fonow & Cook, 1991; Reinharz, 1992). Moreover, the knowledge gained from personal experience and research can be used to bring about social change.

My Values in Relation to the Research Topic

I consider that in any research it is important to be aware of one's personal value base and the value base of the theoretical frameworks underpinning the research. Moreover I hold that these values should be stated clearly.

As a feminist I do not place myself in any particular framework (Kensinger, 1997; Young, 1984), instead my focus is directed at exposing the inequalities that women endure. Accordingly I undertook this research because of the pain and abuse that women encountered while trying, often unsupported, to bring up their children who are diagnosed as having ADD. To me these women are resourceful and strong and they challenge the portrait painted of them by some professionals as deficient and in need of instruction. I believe that it is importance for feminist research to expose the structures and systems which do not serve women well. Furthermore research needs to be able to give voice to women's stories so that they can tell "their truth" (Ramazanoglu & Holland, 2002, p.64) about the experience of mothering children with ADD and to start to explore the impact that ADD has on mothering.

As a feminist and as a mother I was critical of the way in which the women in the support group had been treated. In the past a number of researchers and students have contacted the North Queensland Attention Deficit Disorder Support Group (NADDS). The women have spoken of their experiences freely. However, when they have asked researchers, "Do you believe in ADD?" the researchers often have refused to be brought into the debate, saying it was irrelevant to their research. Even though it could be argued that the researchers were mindful of influencing the interviewees in some way, as a feminist I would strongly assert that researchers need to consider the impact of their research. Just as women who experience violence need to be believed, so too do the women who have children who behave and learn differently.

Another factor of which I was very aware was that women spoke of feeling betrayed; betrayed by researchers and sometimes the media. Usually the women gave information freely, with the hope that their stories would be heard and their experience would be taken seriously and respected. Furthermore, the women hoped that through this process change would occur and things would be

made better for their loved ones. It was as if they had given a part of themselves in order to be understood, but their knowledge had either been ignored or not reported. Thus, researchers and reporters have used the pain and trauma, commonly known as data or information, in their projects, studies or government reports, with little thought to the impact on the participants.

I am also mindful of the contribution of women living with ADD and the value of their stories. Thus, I consider I have an ethical and moral obligation to these women, to the research community and readers of my work, to state my values in relation to ADD.

My Values and Beliefs about ADD

From 1993 onwards I read as many books and articles about ADD as I could in order to understand what ADD was and how it affected the individual. Wherever possible I contacted other support groups throughout Queensland and New South Wales to ascertain if the situation in North Queensland was similar to other places and what, if any, strategies or professionals they had been able to find to assist them in managing ADD. In general, I found that both group and individual experiences were similar. Through the information supplied by the network, mothers were able to access ADD "friendly professionals" (Malacrida, 2003, p.169). In the following years I attended and organised workshops and seminars. The professionals engaged to present at these functions were mother friendly and tended to present material which spoke of ADD as being, more often than not, passed on from parents, usually the father, to the child, usually a boy.

These professionals' knowledge of ADD and how it affected the individual mirrored my own experiences. This may be because many of the speakers and writers on ADD, many of whom are men, have been touched in some way by ADD. Even so, I felt that they had overlooked the difficulties that women encountered in dealing with ADD, either as mothers of children with ADD or as adult women with ADD. I started to conceptualise ADD as a disability, using a broad definition of disability: affecting most aspects of your life and something which remains with you during your life time. I did not see the term disability as a negative label, as I believe that a human being is no lesser a person because they are not the same as everyone else. Furthermore, with or without a disability tag, the community still labelled people with ADD as naughty, stupid, or irresponsible. Moreover, the label disability was necessary in order for services to be provided to individuals and families such as respite, assistance in schools and simply understanding.

During this research process I felt my understanding of ADD was challenged, and was broadened. Foucault's concepts, particularly in relation to difference, normalisation and power were illuminating. Additionally, what I found useful was that Foucault does not prescribe a structured analysis or structured plan for social action, as his concepts or ideas are more like tools (Visker, 1995). Thus, I found a tool box, which I could use to grapple with and tease out the controversy surrounding ADD. In particular, why mothers experienced blame and abuse and what this thing called ADD really means for those who live with the disorder either as a mother of children with ADD or as an adult woman with ADD.

I came to conceptualise ADD as a term which is used to identify people who are different. People with ADD think differently, perceive the world differently and learn differently. The impact that this difference has on the individual or family depends on many factors such as: personality, resources, culture, and time in history. Thus, environment does play a part, not necessarily in causing ADD but certainly, I believe, in the impact that difference brings. ADD does not have to be a negative experience however, at this point in time, in a western industrial culture it has been identified as a problem. Accordingly, in this work I do not debate its existence, even though I present various theoretical perspectives, rather I am looking at the struggle that has ensued.

Research Aims

Important aims in undertaking this research and writing this book are to tell the stories of women affected by ADD, to document the similarities and the differences, to explore the relationships that surround them and in particular, to examine the reasons why the powerful chose not to believe or take seriously the powerless. Moreover to explore mother blame and the way in which it pervades our culture and to celebrate the determination of women who survive horrendous negativity and damaging encounters.

Theoretical Frameworks

This work draws heavily on the work of Foucault and the analysis of feminists such as Ehrenreich and English (1979), Oakley (1986), Smith (1990), Eyer (1996) and Hays (1996). In particular, Foucault's concept of power and feminist theories which expose the reality of women's experiences is used as the foundation for both the literature review and the data analysis. In examining Foucault's work it can be seen that power is multilayered and multifaceted and permeates all aspects of our lives (Foucault, 1980d). Foucault conceptualises power as being neither good nor bad. Nonetheless, he does speak of "great negative forms of power" which can, and do develop to form discourses, normalise and discipline populations (Foucault, 1980d, p.122).

Foucault's work on the formation of discourse has particular relevance to the debate on the causation of ADD. It is also useful to use his method of genealogy to trace back in time the point when children with ADD were seen as problematic, since it reveals much about the kind of body that society deems suitable (Foucault, 1972, 1984b). Thus, Foucault's work on power, normalisation and discipline and the formation of discourse and genealogy are utilised to explore both the literature review and the stories of the women.

In an initial reading of the literature on ADD there was nothing on the reality of mothering children with ADD and very little on the impact of ADD on adult women. In order to lay the foundation for exploring the stories of the women affected by ADD and to examine power structures it has been imperative to draw on the work of feminists who have critiqued the formation of the ideology of motherhood and mother blame (Badinter, 1981; Ehrenreich & English, 1979; Eyer, 1992, 1996; Hays, 1996; Jackson, 1994; Oakley, 1986). Feminist standpoint theory, which views telling and making women's reality visible in order to produce social change, is utilised to enable women to tell their stories in relation to ADD. Thus feminist standpoint is central to this research (Ramazanoglu & Holland, 2002; Smith, 1990). The theoretical framework of this work will be explored further in the literature review and in the methodology chapter.

Limitations and Considerations

The focus of this research is primarily white, Anglo Saxon and is located in the industrialised west; the United Kingdom, the United States, Canada and Australia. Locating the study within present day western culture does not mean that I am not aware of race or different cultures in exploring the whole concept of ADD. However, ADD as a subject is hotly and fiercely contested and is complex, as the notion of ADD spans across many social science discourses. In broadening the research to be more culturally inclusive I felt that I would not have the opportunity to fully explore fundamental issues such as motherhood, mother blame and the formation of the ADD discourse. I have located my data collection in Townsville, North Queensland, with the intention of presenting a rich regional perspective and painting a vivid picture of the lives of women affected by ADD.

This research does not explore in any depth what ADD means for the child who is different, or what their experiences have been. It has been my observation that the pain and trauma that women experience in having children with ADD is no less for the child who is seen as different. Valuable insights are to be gained from listening to children who are labelled different, or see themselves as different.

Overview of the Chapters

Chapter One examines the development of the modern family, motherhood and mother blame. Foucault's (1980d) concept of power and feminists' analysis are utilised to demonstrate that powerful forces have constructed the ideology of motherhood based on the needs of the nation state, capital and the patriarchy. Furthermore, it will be documented how these forces and child raising experts, whose professions developed in earnest from the early twentieth century, have sought to blame mothers for producing aberrant children; people who are seen by society as undesirable, such as adults with schizophrenia, children with autism and recently children with ADD.

In Chapter Two, the identification of ADD and the history of the discourse on the disorder are outlined drawing on Foucault's concept of genealogy. The conflict within the discourse is explored by presenting the two dominant theories which operate to explain ADD; the genetic theory which asserts a biological basis for ADD and the psychoanalytic or behaviourist theories which argue that difference stems from early childhood experiences. The concept of leper, as defined by Foucault is also explored, since, in a society where difference attracts attention, scapegoats need to be found to explain social ills. It will be shown that in our recent history people with schizophrenia and autism have held the status of leper and it will be argued that the baton of leprosy has been handed now to those labelled ADD.

Chapter Three seeks to explore the concept of difference and how nature and nurture theories have sought to explain difference. Foucault's work on difference, normalisation and correction is used in exploring difference and how people or groups that are different have attracted normalisation or disciplinary policies. This perspective is particularly relevant to people affected by ADD. Thus, normalisation and disciplinary strategies will be explored in relation to those affected by ADD.

In Chapter Four, it will be argued that the conflict within the ADD discourses is not a purely academic debate, as professional practices and interventions are primarily developed from a theory of causation. Thus, drawing on the limited literature available, the affect of theory and practice on the family, particularly the mother will be explored using McLaren's definition of power. Four theory bases and practices will be explored:

- the two dominant discourses which centre on genetic theories and on psychoanalytic or behaviourist theories,
- and two minor discourses, diet and the strengths based approach located within grass roots organisations.

Methodology is the Fifth chapter which covers the research process and the theory base used to analysis the data collected.

The remaining four chapters, Diagnosis, Difference and Resistance to Blame, Family Life and the Impact of ADD on the Mother, Power and Knowledge and Support Groups and Political Action revolve around the themes drawn from the data:

- the importance of diagnosis
- the concept of difference
- * mother blame
- * the isolation and marginalisation of mothers
- family life and ADD
- the impact on the mother which covers what it means to have ADD as a woman, the triple burden, depression, isolation and marginalisation, poor health and violence
- * resistance and political action.

In the concluding chapter, recommendations are developed from the themes drawn from the data and the views of the mothers as to what services they believe they need to bring up children with ADD. In addition, the implications for further research will be discussed drawing on the data from this research.